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v.






:







:
JENNIFER GRANHOLM in her official capacity
:
as Governor of the State of Michigan;

:
MICHIGAN DEPARTMENT OF HUMAN 

:
SERVICES – “DHS” (FORMERLY FAMILY 
:

INDEPENENCE AGENCY- “FIA”); 

:
MARIANNE UDOW, in her official capacity of
: 

Director of DHS; MIDLAND COUNTY DHS;
:
SHELLY MARNER, individually and in her official: 
capacity as a supervisor and caseworker for the 
:
Midland County DHS Child Protective Services;
:
LARRY HYCKI, individually and in his official 
:
capacity as a caseworker for Midland County 
:
DHS Child Protective Services; DAN ROGALNY,
: 
individually and in his official capacity as a

:

caseworker for Midland County DHS Foster Care;
:

KATHY COZAT, individually and in her capacity 
:
as supervisor for Midland County Foster Care;
:
ROBERT BOOTH and OFFICERS DOE; 

:

individually and in their capacity as police officers
:

for the City of Midland Police Department

:
LINDA WEISS, individually and in her official 
:
capacity as a Midland County Court referee;

:
COUNTY OF MIDLAND, CITY OF 


:



MIDLAND, MICHIGAN; CITY OF 
MIDLAND
:
POLICE DEPARTMENT



:







:
Defendants.


:

COMPLAINT FOR INJUNCTIVE AND 

DECLARATORY RELIEF AND DAMAGES

INTRODUCTION
1. This is a civil rights action brought pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983 challenging the constitutionality of certain provisions and portions of the Child Protection Law of the State of Michigan, §722.628(8), both facially and as applied against Plaintiff.  Plaintiff also seeks an injunction prohibiting Defendants from enforcing the challenged provisions in the future, as well as a declaration that those provisions are unconstitutional. 

2. This is a civil rights action brought pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983 in which the Plaintiff seeks compensatory and punitive damages against the Defendants in their individual capacities and compensatory damages against the municipal Defendants for violation of the Plaintiff’s rights guaranteed them under the First, Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and under Art. I § 11 and 17 (1) of the 1963 Constitution of the State of Michigan.
3. Plaintiff further seeks declaratory relief that as applied by the Defendants § 722.628(2) & (8) et seq; §  750.138 MCL; §  750.350a(1) MCL et seq; §  712A.1 et seq. MCL; § 712A.10(1) et seq MCL; § 712A.13 MCL; § 712A.14 MCL; §  712A.15 MCL; §  24.271 et seq MCL and CFP 713-1, CFP 713-3, CFP 715-2, CFP 715-3 of the Children’s Protective Service Manual and the State of Michigan and/or Midland County and City Protocol for Emergency Removal and Placement of Minors (together with other statutes and procedure which may be identified in the course of this action referred to collectively as hereafter as the “Statutes and Protocols”) violated Plaintiff’s rights guaranteed them under the First, Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and under Art. I, § 11 and 17(1) of the Constitution of the State of Michigan.
4. Defendants’ actions have already deprived and will continue to deprive Plaintiff of her paramount rights and guarantees provided under the United States and Michigan Constitutions.

5. Each and every act of Defendants alleged herein was committed under the color of state law.

6. Plaintiff further seeks permanent injunctive relief prohibiting Defendants from engaging in the conduct declared to be in violation of the Plaintiff’s constitutionally protected rights and from enforcing Statutes and Protocols in the manner complained of herein.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

7. This Court has original jurisdiction over Plaintiff’s claims pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1343.  The Court has jurisdiction over the request for declaratory relief pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201 and 2202.  The Court has jurisdiction over the state law claims pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367.

8. Venue is proper in the Western District of Michigan pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b), because Plaintiff and her children reside in this district, Defendant’s Jennifer Granholm and Marianne Udow along with the primary Department of Human Services Agency operations are located and headquartered within this district.  Actions originally arose in Midland County but subsequent actions have spread to encompass Montcalm, Barry, Genesee, Charlevoix and Emmet Counties.
PARTIES
9. Plaintiff Lynnae L .is a citizen of the United States and at the commencement of this action was a resident of Midland County, Michigan.  Subsquently Plaintiff was a resident of Portland, Oregon and Sheridan, Michigan. Plaintiff’s principal address is Sheridan, Michigan and located within the Western Judicial District of the State of Michigan. Plaintiff Lynnae L. is the parent of; Ms Mary Harter, then-minor L.E.L; and current minor E.J.L. who all reside in Charlevoix and Emmet Counties and are located within the Western Judicial District of the State of Michigan.
10. On May 28th, 2004 the date of the Defendants’ actions complained of; Plaintiff Lynnae L. was the parent of and had legal care, control and custody of both minor children and they all resided together at the family home in Midland, Michigan.

11. Plaintiff, Lynnae L. as the parent of both children; who at all times material, had enrolled the minor children as students in the Calvary Baptist Academy; a private Christian school and church located in Midland, Michigan and attended many other extra curricular school and church activities including a variety of church services, Bible study, youth group, parenting classes, sports programs, and counseling, to name a few.
12. Defendant Jennifer Granholm as Governor and former Attorney General for the State of Michigan, has known for many years, has at all times material, had specific knowledge state employees/caseworkers of DHS routinely and systematically violate constitutionally protected rights of parents and children, federal and state mandates and statutes, and stated Policies and Procedures of DHS under the guise of child protection and is being sued in her official capacity. Pursuant to Article V, Section 1 of the Constitution of Michigan of 1963, the executive power of the State is vested with the Governor. Pursuant to Article V, Section 8 of the Constitution of the State of Michigan of 1963, the governor is responsible for ensuring that all executive departments and agencies within the State, including DHS, faithfully execute and comply with applicable federal and state law. Governor Granholm maintains her principal office at the Office of the Governor, 111 S. Capitol Avenue, George W. Romney Building, Lansing, Michigan 48933.
13. Defendant Marianne Udow, is the Director of Michigan Department of Human Services has known for many years, has at all times material, had specific knowledge state employees/caseworkers of DHS routinely and systematically violate constitutionally protected rights of parents and children, federal and state mandates and statutes, and stated Policies and Procedures of DHS under the guise of child protection and is being sued in her official capacity. Pursuant to Sections 400.3 of the Social Welfare Act, MCL § 400.1 et seq. and Executive Reorganization Order E.R.O. No. 2004-4, Director Udow is responsible for administering all DHS child welfare services and programs and assuring that all such services and programs operate in conformity with constitutional, statutory, and regulatory requirements. Director Udow maintains her principal office at the Department of Human Services, 235 S. Grand Avenue, Lansing, Michigan 48909.
14. Defendants have been knowledgeable for years of the systemic deficiencies of the Michigan Child Welfare system which inflicts substantial and often irreparable damage and harms to parents, families and the children they are allegedly protecting including but not limited to:
a. Failure to have properly trained workers; workers are performing necessary tasks, job requirements/duties that engage them in the practice of a social work at the level, experience and training bachelor's or master's degree;
b. Failure to follow laws and policies;

c. Failure to recognize constitutionally protected rights of parents, families and children;

d. Disproportionate amount of false allegations of child abuse and neglect and an inability by workers to properly distinguish between true abuse or neglect;

e. Excessive caseloads;

f. High caseworker turnover;

g. Mental health and “stress” related issues of caseworkers;

h. Improper removal of children and excessive use of “emergency removal” proceedings to gain control;

i. Unnecessary removal of children;

j. Any perceived resistance on the part of the parents, children, families or others is considered non-compliance and grounds for removal of a child;

k. Improper and inappropriate establishing children eligible for Title IV-E funding;

l. Use of threats and coercion on the part of the workers to ensure compliance by children, parents, families and others;

m. Failure to provide reasonable efforts or services to prevent removal;

n. Maltreatment of families, parents and children during the procedures and processes of child protection, foster care and state adoption/legally free orphans;

o. Maltreatment to children at the hands of DHS-contracted service providers and foster parents;

p. Excessive lengths of stay in foster care;

q. Excessive number of moves among multiple placements;

r. Failure to provide reunification services outside of “cookie cutter” programs;
s. Failure to ignore/refuse any “service” not provided by a DHS-contracted service provider;

t. Failure to lower barriers to reunification;

u. Refusal of services to promote reunification;

v. Failure to provide and intentional obstruction/interference of frequent and quality parenting time and contact; sibling contact; the number one most recognized “service” to promote and ensure successful reunification;

w. Excessive numbers of parental terminations and legally-free orphans.
15. Plaintiff is very cognizant of these and other harms and dangers of families at the hands of DHS and the child welfare system.
16. Defendant Midland County Department of Human Services is a Department of the State of Michigan, and is capable of suing and being sued. During the times material it has known as the Midland County Family Independence Agency (FIA) and the Department of Human Services.
17. Defendant State of Michigan Department of Human Services is a division of the State of Michigan, and is capable of suing and being sued.  During the times material it was also known as the State of Michigan Family Independent Agency (FIA) and the Department of Human Services. At all times material to this action its Midland County component of the Department of Child Protection Services (CPS) section operated (and continues to operate) within the State of Michigan Department of Human Services under the Child Welfare Section – Midland County Office.  (The aforementioned state agency and its related departments and section hereafter are referred to hereafter, collectively, as “DHS.”)

18. Defendant Larry J Hycki, was at all times material to this action, a child protective services “CPS” caseworker for the Midland County DHS Child Protection Department.  He is sued in both his official and individual capacity.
19. Defendant Daniel Rogalny, was at all time material to this action, a foster care “FC” caseworker for Midland County DHS Foster Care Department. He is sued in both his official and individual capacity.
20. Defendant Shelly Marner, was at all times material to this action, the Midland County Child Protective Services supervisor of Larry Hycki. She is sued in both her official and individual capacity.
21. Defendant Kathy Cozat, was at all times material to this action, the Midland County Foster Care supervisor of Dan Rogalny. She is sued in both her individual and official capacity.

22. Defendant County of Midland is a municipal corporation, existing and operating according to the laws of the State of Michigan within the Eastern Judicial District of the State of Michigan and is capable of suing and being sued.

23. Defendant City of Midland, Michigan is a municipal corporation, existing and operating according to the laws of the State of Michigan having authority, duties and powers as provided under the laws of the State of Michigan within the Eastern Judicial District of the State of Michigan and is capable of suing and being sued.
24. Defendant Midland City Police Department is a police department existing and operating according to the laws of the State of Michigan within the Eastern Judicial District of the State of Michigan and is capable of suing and being sued.

25. Individual officers Robert Booth and officers John/Jane Doe are being sued in their official and individual capacities.
26. Referee Linda Weiss is and at all time material to this action was a Midland County Probate Court referee. She is sued in her official and individual capacity.
ALLEGATIONS OF FACT
27. Defendant Hycki is a state employee and as a state employee is required to take an oath pursuant to MCL 15.151 to uphold the Constitution of the State of Michigan. 

28. Michigan has numerous state statutes that address child protection.

29. Michigan DHS has volumes of administrative policy and procedure for a child protective service worker and supervisor; these policies and procedures (protocols) for the state worker carry the force and effect of law.
30. Plaintiff is known to be an outspoken activist and advocate for reform of the systemic deficiencies and failures in the areas of child protective services, foster care and all phases of the related processes. Plaintiff has openly named and described illegal and improper actions committed by Midland County DHS workers, and specifically worker Dan Rogalny, and the Midland County Probate Court judges/referees in prior public speaking arenas.
31. On Tuesday, December 7, 2003, Defendant Larry Hycki, without any exigent circumstances, warrant or court order did go to Calvary Baptist Academy and Church; a private Christian school and church; and demanded to interview Plaintiff’s then-minor child L.E.L.   
32. Defendant Hycki was in full knowledge that Calvary Baptist Academy and Church was private property and a private school.

33. Defendant Hycki and Midland County DHS workers/supervisors anticipated Defendant Hycki would encounter resistance by Plaintiff if his actions were known to Plaintiff. 

34. Defendant Hycki’s State of Michigan DHS training asserts any resistance by a parent or others is to be perceived as non-cooperation and non-compliance; a presumption of guilt; and grounds to use emergency proceedings to remove a child from their home.
35. At all times all Defendants relied on the portion MCL 722.628(8) “A school or other institution shall cooperate with the department during an investigation of a report of child abuse or neglect. Cooperation includes allowing access to the child without parental consent if access is determined by the department to be necessary to complete the investigation or to prevent abuse or neglect of the child.”
36. At all times all Defendants maintained that “school and institution” as it is written into the statute refers to all schools - whether public or private and that all situations are determined “necessary” to enter a school – whether public or private to “complete an investigation”. 

37. Defendant Hycki on May 28, 2004 did testify “As the FIA policy and procedure, we like to make contact with the children at school; away from parental influence”. 
38. Nothing in the written DHS policy and procedures or Michigan statutes indicates contact of a child is preferred or required at a school or institution – whether public or private – for completion of an investigation. 

39. At no time is there any indication that Defendant Hycki attempted to follow MCL 722.628(9)(a),(b), or (c).
40. Defendant Hycki told Calvary’s assistant principal, Timothy Donnelly, he had to privately interview L.E.L. a 17 ½ year-old female child for a child abuse/neglect complaint. 
41. Asst. Principal Donnelly then called Principal Reece who instructed Mr. Donnelly if there was nothing from the parents’ in the child’s file prohibiting outside or governmental interviews; it was the unwritten school policy to allow a child protection worker to interview the child and accede to the demands of the agency worker. 
42. Defendant Hycki is an extremely large man who is intimidating both physically and verbally.
43. It is unclear if at this time Defendant Hycki used any forms of coercion on the school staff to insist on his authoritative “right” to interview L.E.L. alone. 
44. There is no indication that Defendant Hycki followed MCL 722.628(9)(a), (b) or (c).
45. Plaintiff Lynnae L as a parent was not notified in any manner by either the school or worker prior to or immediately after the interview.

46. Defendant Hycki refused to allow Asst. Principal Donnelly to be present for the interview. Defendant Hycki did not discuss with Asst. Principal Donnelly what the interview was about. Further Defendant Hycki did not speak with Asst Principal Donnelly following his interview of L.E.L. as required by protocol.
47. L.E.L. was removed from her class and taken to a private conference room where she was interrogated at length and only in the presence of CPS worker Hycki; length of time unknown. There was no preservation of any interrogation.

48. Upon the ending of this interrogation, L.E.L. was very visibly upset and with the assistance of Mr. Donnelly used the school phone to call long distance to her older sister Mary Harter (20 1/2 year-old). Her conversation, in the presence of Mr. Donnelly, was very emotional with Ms Harter and involved demanding to know why her sister had called CPS. 
49. On Sunday, December 7, 2003 the elder sister, Ms Harter, had a phone conversation with L.E.L arising out of a grounding L.E.L. had received from her mother. Ms Harter told L.E.L. she was to come and live with her and she would come immediately and take her away. 
50. During a subsequent phone call to the Plaintiff parent; her eldest daughter, Ms Harter threatened she was going to take custody of both children and would use CPS to do so and had demanded Plaintiff release L.E.L. to her custody and control that very day. Both minor children and another witness were aware of the threats being made by Ms Harter. 
51. Ms Harter objected to several parenting decisions made by the Plaintiff mother; including the children being in Christian school, claiming that was “brainwashing”.
52. On Thursday, December 11, 2003, and quite by accident, Plaintiff parent Lynnae L. when speaking to Asst. Principal Donnelly on other matters regarding inappropriate conduct of her daughter, L.E.L., while she was under the supervision/care of the school; Mr. Donnelly asked her if this had anything to do with the CPS worker interviewing L.E.L. a couple of days prior.

53. Plaintiff parent Lynnae L. was stunned and asked for an immediate conference with Mr. Donnelly and her daughter, L.E.L., who was once again removed from class.

54. Throughout the meeting L.E.L. was very emotional; stating she had been afraid to tell her mother; that CPS worker Hycki had threatened her with foster care for herself and her younger sister, E. J. L.; that her older sister Mary had called in the complaint but tried to blame it on her absent non-custodial father as the one who called. L.E.L. stated she told CPS worker Hycki there was nothing wrong at home or with her mother and that she had been grounded for failing to do her chores and that any disagreement alleged by Ms Harter was her fault; there had been no physical altercation as alleged by Ms Harter; she wished to remain with her mother and not live with her sister, Mary Harter. L.E.L. stated that CPS worker Hycki “did not believe her”; CPS worker Hycki left her with a final threat it was “up to you to make your mother cooperate with me or I will put you and your sister in foster care”; and finally that because of the threats she had been too afraid to tell her mother what had happened hoping it would go away.
55. Asst. Principal Donnelly, a new and inexperienced teacher/principal, was unaware of the scope or authorities of child protective services and the laws regarding.
56. Plaintiff parent, Lynnae L.., had numerous concerns that she discussed with Mr. Donnelly regarding her child alone with a CPS worker; the investigation on private property without a warrant or court order; the school’s failure to notify the parent at any time. 
57. It was agreed Plaintiff parent would place in her daughters’ files a directive identifying numerous items but specifically who could call, speak to, or pick up either minor child; that any government agent would have to have a valid court order or warrant; a list of individuals to contact including an attorney should the occasion ever arise again.
58. Further Plaintiff parent, Mr. Donnelly and L.E.L. discussed concerns that Ms Harter was a threat to the family unit at that time; that L.E.L. would refrain from contact with her until her mother’s discretion allowed; and she would continue her counseling and following all directions of her mother and respect her mother’s parental authority.
59. Plaintiff parent immediately contacted L.E.L.’s counselor regarding the matter; a counseling session was scheduled and identical issues were discussed including refraining from contact with Ms Harter until allowed by her mother.
60. Additionally an attorney was contacted and his advice was to prevent contact of Ms Harter as she was a threat to the family unit.

61. Plaintiff parent faxed Calvary Baptist Academy a specific directive regarding any contact with the minor children by any individual be it by phone, email in person etc. without a court order or warrant; who would be allowed to pick up either child from the school location; a list of contacts and phone numbers including an attorney in case this situation ever arose again. Plaintiff confirmed via phone that Asst. Principal Donnelly had received and understood the directive and that it would be placed in the children’s files.
62. On December 13, 2003 Plaintiff parent, Lynnae L., received a letter via ordinary mail to an address which was not her mailing address. (Late March 2004 Defendant Hycki informed Plaintiff he was fully aware of her correct mailing address.)

63. The letter was from Defendant CPS worker Hycki about an “investigation” he was conducting; the contents were perceived as threatening to Plaintiff given what she had learned from L.E.L. and Mr. Donnelly. At no time were any allegations that he was investigating included as per federal law and later incorporated into State of Michigan statutes (MCL 722.628(2)).
64. For the next four months through letters, faxes and unsolicited emails Defendant CPS worker Larry Hycki did stalked and terrorized this family; threatening Plaintiff parent with arrest and jail and her children with foster care; if she failed to cooperate; making imperial demands to come to his office, even while stating he had nothing to investigate. 
65. Despite written requests by Plaintiff parent; Defendant Hycki continually refused to permit Plaintiff parent knowledge what of, if any, the allegations were or any information at all, contrary to both federal mandates and the Michigan state-specific statute MCL722.618(2). 

66. At no time did Defendant Hycki seek any collateral information; interview other individuals living in the home or knowledgeable about the home and family; or make a phone call; or try to reasonably speak with Plaintiff parent.
67. Both in the interview with L.E.L., subsequent letters and emails and then in person Defendant Hycki stated non-cooperation of a parent would result in a mandatory petition to remove the children and take jurisdiction. (Accordingly in the face to face meeting held in late March 2004. Defendant Hycki detailed the portions of a recent case where he did exactly that, claiming he unnecessarily removed the children; forced cooperation of the parents and took several months to resolve any and all issues under the auspicious of the same court Defendant Hycki was threatening Plaintiff and her children with.) There is nothing in the statutes that allows the agency or its workers to do this to force cooperation.
68. Late March of 2004 Plaintiff Lynnae L. agreed to meet with Defendant Larry Hycki at her place of work at the end of the work day approximately 5:00 pm.
69. Instead of arriving at the appointment time, Defendant Hycki arrived a full five hours early and Plaintiff was not there attending to work elsewhere in another town where she had a prior appointment.

70. Defendant Hycki was very aggressive and loud; demanding to know why Plaintiff parent was “avoiding” him. Defendant Hycki was taken back into the director’s office for over an hour to alleviate the situation and of his drawing attention to himself and to calm him down. He further spoke to another employee that he recognized. He agreed to return the following day.

71. Plaintiff parent returned to work to be bombarded with all kinds of questions from her director and co-workers about why a child protective service worker wanted to speak with her; the manner he displayed himself to them with regards to Plaintiff, that Plaintiff was “avoiding” him and the information he would return the following day.

72. Plaintiff parent was thoroughly humiliated and embarrassed but called Defendant calmly on the phone and told him the arrangements were to meet that day following work and she would just as soon as be done with it. It was further agreed he would return then and speak with her.

73. Upon arrival Defendant Hycki asked no questions of Plaintiff regarding any investigation. He further identified daughter, Mary Harter, as the complainant both verbally and by way of showing an “intake card”. This violates both federal and state statutes of anonymous and confidential reporting.

74. Defendant Hycki stated he had “nothing to investigate” – “case closed”; L.E.L. had already told him nothing had happened and he believed her stating he is trained to believe whatever a child says is true; he just was following his mandatory face-to-face with the alleged “perpetrator”; and if Plaintiff parent had any “trouble” with her children he “would be glad to come over and put fear into them, straightening them out” for Plaintiff; the “meeting” took less than 5 minutes. 
75. Defendant proceeded to hang around for almost an hour and tell Plaintiff all about himself and his job – including revealing enough case details of other cases for Plaintiff Lynnae L. to know at least one family that he was speaking of.  This entire conversation was captured at the time on a digital recorder.
76. During the months of April and May 2004 (and unknown by Plaintiff parent at that time) both Ms Harter and at least one DHS FC worker, Dan Rogalny, consistently and secretly contacted L.E.L. at the private Christian school through messages and phone calls during her regular school day. Ms Harter also secretly contacted L.E.L. at home through the email, instant message and phone calls; all the while encouraging L.E.L. to defy Plaintiff parent. 
77. Additionally in emails to L.E.L. from Ms Harter, she was promised several things including her own place a car, etc.; Ms Harter told her FC worker “Dan R” needs her to tell a better story and not be so self serving. Another email is a message through her sister Ms Harter from Dan Rogalny to L.E.L. that he has an “appointment time” for her to call (during school hours and from school) and don’t forget or be late in calling and “to keep trying” if he does not answer. 
78. Another email L.E.L. writes on April 29, 2004 “maybe if I have my sis call FIA ill live with her then” then on April 30, 2004 she emails the same person “ok I think I will stay for now”.

79. Another email from Ms Harter on May 4, 2004 “Did you call?” L.E.L. answered from school during study hall. L.E.L.: “yea I called like 5 mins ago but dan r wasn’t in! so I left a message to have him call you on ur cell I hope that’s ok but when he doesn ask him what day he will be in his office cuz he is there today but not at his soooo ill try calling later today but so yea I told him not to call my house come to my school nothing unless I ok it with him cuz if school finds out im in biggggggg BIG trouble with everyone”.
80. It was not until June 2004 these communications and others were discovered by Plaintiff parent.

81. Defendant Kathy Cozat in a taped and witnessed meeting identified Dan Rogalny often was an “independent” worker and often did things contrary to policy.
82. According to written documents prepared by Defendant Hycki; on Tuesday, May 26, 2004 he alleges an unknown individual at the DHS agency received a phone call alleging abuse and neglect at the home of Plaintiff parent. Nothing in any record or DHS file has substantiated any phone call ever took place or who received the call or whether the caller was identified.

83. Defendant Hycki has testified it appeared the caller identified severe physical abuse to both children including injuring the 8 year-old in the head by knocking her to the floor and choking the 17 ½ year-old “until she couldn’t breathe”. Further Defendant Hycki has attested that Plaintiff parent “refused” to take the children to school on Tuesday, May 26, 2004.

84. Plaintiff parent and her fiancée drove the children back and forth to school and church functions on a regular basis.

85. At no time between this alleged phone call on either the rest of May 26th, or all day the 27th, or the morning prior to school on 28th 2004, did anyone from DHS either dispatch a CPS worker or contact law enforcement to determine the health, welfare and safety of the children or ask law enforcement to check on their behalf or assist them in any check; contrary to the state statues and administrative policies and procedures. 

86. At no time did the alleged “caller” of the abuse and neglect complaint or anyone else call law enforcement to ensure the health, welfare and safety of the children.

87. Throughout all this time Plaintiff parent was unapprised of any issues or situations surrounding her children and indeed was flooded in due to a cresting river on May 25-26, 2004; which was receding in the early afternoon of May 26, 2004. Later in the afternoon after the flood waters has sufficiently receded; Plaintiff parent and her fiancée did leave to go to the library; both children elected to stay home. During this time in a phone conversation Ms Harter directed the 8-year old to “keep a secret” and that she would no longer be allowed to live with her mother she must “choose” between living with her absent non-custodial father and her. 
88. At no time during the time the Plaintiff parent was out of the home did any individual notify any law enforcement official or CPS worker to come to the home and check on the welfare of the children. At no time during this time did any government official arrive to seek information regarding the children nor were any phone calls, letters, emails or faxes received.
89. Throughout the week Plaintiff and her children, together and apart, went about their lives; going out to eat; making plans and discussing the end of school on May 28, 2004.

90. On May 28, 2004 Plaintiff parent did drive her children to school for a half day for the last day of school for the school year – school getting out at 11:40 am. During this time all was normal with both children and plans were discussed additionally about L.E.L. staying to help prepare for and staying for graduation held later that night at school. This was further the start of the Memorial Day holiday weekend.
91. Without any exigent circumstances, warrant, or court order and per testimony Defendant Hycki arrived at the private Christian school, at approximately 10:30-10:45 am, with the purpose of “interviewing” L.E.L. “first”. Further testimony on the part of the Defendant and others show what Defendant Hycki really did was follow a pre-arranged removal plan and having the children pre-placed in the home of the older sister, Mary Harter. This was to be accomplished secretly at school prior to the end of the school day having both children whisked away and only allowing a post-deprivation hearing on a holiday weekend. 
92. Per testimony, at this time, Ms Harter was already enroute to Midland from Charlevoix County, a 200+ mile/3hour drive, to take pre-arranged permanent custody of both minor children and remove them to her home.
93. Defendant was in full knowledge that Calvary Baptist Academy and Church was still private property and that Plaintiff parent would object to any interrogation of her children or herself without an attorney present and having any and all conversations taped.
94. Defendant Hycki and Midland County DHS workers/supervisors were sure of resistance by the Plaintiff parent if she had knowledge of his contact with her children at the school.

95. At no time did Defendant Hycki or Midland County DHS workers/supervisors attempt to obtain a search warrant or court order to legitimize his interrogation, detention, search or seizure of L.E.L.

96. At no time did Defendant Hycki or Midland County DHS workers/supervisors attempt to ensure the constitutional protected rights of either the children or the parent as mandated but did with willful intention and disregard circumvent these rights.
97. At all times all Defendants relied on the portion MCL 722.628(8) “A school or other institution shall cooperate with the department during an investigation of a report of child abuse or neglect. Cooperation includes allowing access to the child without parental consent if access is determined by the department to be necessary to complete the investigation or to prevent abuse or neglect of the child.”
98. Defendant Hycki on May 28, 2004 did testify, “As the FIA policy and procedure, we like to make contact with the children at school away from parental influence”. 

99. Nothing in the written DHS policy and procedures or Michigan statutes indicates contact of a child is preferred or required at a school or institution – whether public or private – for completion of an investigation. 

100. There is no indication that Defendant Hycki followed MCL 722.628(9)(a), (b) or (c).
101. Per testimony Asst. Principal Donnelly stated he questioned the “timing” of Defendant Hycki’s arrival with Hycki; stated he did need to confer with Principal Reece; he (Donnelly) did need to wait to allow Principal Reece to take over his duties at an awards ceremony; did tell Defendant Hycki that Plaintiff did have a directive placed in the children’s file to stop Defendant from interrogating the minor children without a warrant or court order; his intent to attempt to contact Plaintiff parent and/or other designated people immediately, including an attorney as outlined in the directive.

102. Per testimony, Defendant Hycki then produced what was described as a “court order” that gave Defendant Hycki the authority to interview any child in the school. Unbeknownst to Mr. Donnelly at the time it was an out-dated 1995 Attorney General opinion #6869 commenting on a CPS workers authority to enter a school to question a child having no force or effect on Calvary Baptist Academy or its staff or Plaintiff parent. 
103. Per testimony Asst. Principal Donnelly was not given a copy of this “order”; nor was he knowledgeable that police officers would be required to enforce any warrant or order and not a child protective service “CPS” worker.

104. Coercion was used on the school staff and Asst. Principal to force cooperation in gaining access to L.E.L.; what else was done or said is unknown at this time. Testimony was given included comments of police action, interference and force.
105. Mr. Donnelly insisted on being present for the interview with L.E.L. at which Defendant Hycki stated he would have to sign a confidentiality statement. Policy and procedure require this document be signed prior to any interview initiating. (Per the DHS file this did not occur for several days which is contrary to Defendant Hycki’s direct testimony.) 
106. Mr. Donnelly testified that the school policy had changed since the incident in December 7, 2003 and he had to be present for the interview. 
107. At approximately 11:00 am Plaintiff parent received a call from the school telling her a CPS worker was at school and to come to school. Plaintiff stated she would be right there; living about 15 minutes away. Her arrival at the school was at approximately 11:20 am.
108. Upon arrival she noted her 8 year-old was safe in her class and went looking for Asst. Principal Donnelly. Plaintiff was told he was in a meeting so she went to assure herself of the welfare of her 17 ½ year-old.

109. There was an awards ceremony being conducted in the gym as Plaintiff went past and she heard her daughter’s name called for an award but her daughter did not appear from the bleachers to accept the award. Plaintiff parent panicked and returned immediately to the office where she bypassed the secretaries’ desks to get to the offices of the principals and church pastors.

110. Plaintiff parent (through the glass window of the door) saw her daughter with her back towards the door, hysterical, in a conference room with Defendant Hycki. 

111. Plaintiff parent was extremely concerned for the well-being and welfare of her daughter. She considered her daughter’s prior emotional state when contacted by this worker in December 9, 2003 and based on her own past experience with contacts from this worker felt her daughter was in imminent danger.

112. Plaintiff parent tried to enter the room and found the door was locked from the inside; while from an adjacent door Asst. Principal Donnelly emerged leaving the door partially open.

113. Plaintiff parent and Mr. Donnelly exchanged words to end the interrogation of her daughter who was clearly hysterical. Plaintiff clearly re-established her parental authority from the in loca parentis status of the school.
114. Mr. Donnelly told Plaintiff parent that Defendant had a “court order” and he had to allow him in; that he had “no choice”; and to take E.J.L. from her class and leave.

115. Plaintiff parent stated she would not leave without her other daughter and demanded the interrogation end. At which point she could see and hear Defendant Hycki placed his hand on daughter L.E.L.’s arm and tell her repeatedly “don’t look at your mother; don’t get up; stay right where you are; tell her you are afraid of her”. Testimony affirmed this occurred.
116. Defendant Hycki has testified this was a “forensic interview”. At no time did Defendant Hycki ever make any attempts to speak with Plaintiff.
117. Plaintiff called to her daughter to come out of the room but was being physically blocked by Mr. Donnelly (whether intentionally or not) and locked out of the other door. In any event Plaintiff parent was prevented from exerting her parental rights and she could not attend to the safety of her daughter; who Plaintiff parent continued to believe was in imminent danger.
118. Plaintiff observed L.E.L could not leave as Defendant Hycki continued to restrain her instructing her to stay; and Mr. Donnelly blocked the doorway.

119. Mr. Donnelly testified that L.E.L. appeared to “rise” and attempt to go with her mother.

120. Twice more Mr. Donnelly told Plaintiff to get the 8 year-old daughter and leave.

121. School was getting out for the school year ending on the half-day at 11:40 am and parents were arriving; children were gathering in the hallways and being taken out of doors to await rides.
122. After the third time of telling Plaintiff to remove E.J.L. from school and leave; Mr. Donnelly instructed a secretary to call the police. He turned to Plaintiff parent again and said he was doing that to ensure she left the school premise.

123. Plaintiff did remove the 8 year-old and left school without her 17 ½ year old; although quite clearly not abandoning her.

124. Per Defendant Hycki’s own testimony the incident in front of the conference room took a matter of 2-3 minutes.
125. At no time was this interrogation preserved.

126. At no time did Plaintiff parent appear violent or out of control; only merely insistent that all interrogation of her daughter end, extremely frightened her daughter was in danger and frustrated with the intentional interference with her parental authority to have her daughter leave with her.

127. Initial testimony on May 28, 2004 Defendant Hycki stated Plaintiff parent “jiggled” the doorknob and “coaxed” her daughter to leave the room.
128. Later testimony refers to Plaintiff has having repeatedly “pounded” on the door and “threatening” her daughter to leave the room.
129. Per testimony of Defendant Hycki, on November 15, 2005; at no time did Defendant Hycki attempt to speak with Plaintiff parent or move from his chair or follow his mandated duty to inform the Plaintiff parent about any allegations or why he was interrogating Plaintiff’s daughter. 

130. Defendant Hycki made at that time; in the space of the 2-3 minutes per testimony on November 15, 2005; a determination of “abuse and neglect” and that it was “contrary to the welfare” of the children to remain in the home “based on his observations” of Plaintiff parent in the 2-3 minute time period; thus failing his mandated due diligent investigation.
131. Subsequent testimony showed this was a pre-planned removal and not any alleged initial “interview” or “investigation into allegations”.
132. A few minutes after Plaintiff left Calvary Baptist Academy with her youngest daughter, the Midland City Police arrived for a “disorderly female” call. Testimony places the officers there at approximately 11:45-50 am.
133. Defendant Hycki testified on November 15, 2005 he called “the police, supervisor Shelly Marner and the court” in that order. As supervisor to Defendant Hycki Defendant; Shelly Marner needed to approve and authorize an “emergency” removal. It is unclear who actually made any call to the court.

134. He further testified the police were called to “assist him in the removal of the children”. (It was later testified by the police officers and Principal Donnelly the police arrived pursuant to a call from the school for a “disturbing female”.)
135. If this were the case Defendant Hycki was not yet in possession of any order – verbal or written - made from a judicial determination to remove the children; but it further indicates he had the understanding and assumption that the court would rubber-stamp a DHS worker request.
136. Defendant Hycki testified that he “called the court” and “got a verbal pick up order” at 11:40 am to remove the children and place them into protective custody. His testimony indicates that Plaintiff was already gone form the school.
137. As his supervisor, Defendant Marner, would have knowledge of Defendant Hycki’s location at a private Christian school. She would also have been aware if he had any warrant or court order; whether he required a warrant or court order upon resistance at a private Christian school; could/would have given him instructions if resistance were met; given him instructions as to the validity of a verbal order or necessary written order; or a myriad of other things according to statute and policy and procedure.
138. Defendant Marner as a state employee is also mandated by statute to take an oath to uphold the state constitution pursuant to MCL 15.151.
139. Michigan Department of Human Services had just entered into a settlement agreement pursuant to similar actions taken against the O’Donnell family in the US District Court for the Western District of Michigan Southern Division. New Michigan statutes were being incorporated by legislation specific to address the protections of children and parents from unconstitutional acts by state workers that arose out of this specific case; as well as verbal search warrants and verbal removal orders. O'Donnell v. Brown 335 F. Supp. 2d 787, U.S. Dist. LEXIS 18976 (W.D. Mich. 2004)
140. Rules of the court identify that “absent exigent circumstances” all requests to protect a child must be in the form of a petition with proper notice given to all parties. 
141. At no time was the alleged conversation with the court referee, Defendant Linda Weiss as identified as the individual who authorized the “emergency” verbal removal, preserved with either Defendants Marner or Hycki.
142. At no time would Defendant referee, Linda Weiss, be able to make a judicial determination and order for removal as that was beyond the scope of her authority pursuant to the Juvenile Code, MCL 712A.1 et seq. MCL 712A. 10(1). 

143. The record shows Defendant referee Linda Weiss was fully apprised this was a private Christian school.
144. Defendant referee Linda Weiss is a sworn and deputized attorney court officer appointed for the convenience of the court to hear court matters and make recommendations only. These recommendations then are required to have a judicial determination complete signature of a judge on all orders. Once again the O’Donnell case referred to verbal orders vs written orders for both search warrants and pick up orders on private property; as well as exigent circumstances. O'Donnell v. Brown 335 F. Supp. 2d 787, U.S. Dist. LEXIS 18976 (W.D. Mich. 2004)
145. Defendant Hycki claimed to both the Midland City Police and school staff he had a “pick up order” from the Court and that Plaintiff parent had interfered with his investigation and removal of the minor children. Further he referred to referee Linda Weiss as “Judge Weiss”. Again the O’Donnell case referred to the police having written orders vs verbal orders for search warrants and pick up orders; as well as exigent circumstances. O'Donnell v. Brown 335 F. Supp. 2d 787, U.S. Dist. LEXIS 18976 (W.D. Mich. 2004)
146. There was not any written warrant or written court order authorizing any such search, seizure; detention or removal of the children.

147. At no time did the Midland City Police see any warrant or court order; taking Defendant Hycki at his word. One of the two Midland City Police Officers was Defendant Robert Booth.
148. Defendant Hycki removed daughter L.E.L. and took her to McDonald’s for lunch and to the Midland County DHS building. He sent the Midland City Police to detain Plaintiff and her other child, E.J.L. for “custody” of E.J.L. and interference by Plaintiff parent.
149. Pursuant to MCL 712A.14(1) only a government official with the power to arrest after an independent investigation of exigent circumstances where “surroundings are such as to endanger his or her health, morals, or welfare”. This does not include a child protective services worker.
150. At no time did any Midland City Police officer conduct an independent investigation or provide any testimony that exigent circumstances existed at the time.

151. Midland City Police officers are trained to follow the instructions of CPS workers.

152. Child protective service workers are trained to use the authority of uniformed police officer(s) presence to ensure compliance.

153. Per testimony by Defendant Midland City Police Officer Robert Booth he never saw a written order until one was faxed to the Midland Law Enforcement Center much later in the day.
154. At approximately 1:00 pm Defendant Hycki arrived at the Midland County DHS office where he continued to detain and hold L.E.L incommunicado.

155. At this time Defendant Hycki testified he “completed” his investigation without speaking to any other individual knowledgeable with the child, the Plaintiff, the home or the alleged incident – including other members who lived in the home. He testified he only went back to the DHS office to write the petition.

156. At approximately the same time Ms Mary Harter also arrived at the DHS office waiting to take custody of the children.

157. Faxed “court orders” awarding temporary foster care of both children to the DHS office sometime later in the afternoon bear the name of Judge Van Dam and the initials “L.W.”. The signature of Judge Van Dam is in serious question to authenticity.

158. Judge Van Dam is deceased and can not authenticate his signature. 

159. At no time was Plaintiff parent apprised, personally noticed or in any way communicated with regarding any petition or “emergency” hearing at 4:00 pm as required by statute and DHS policy and procedures contrary to MCL 24.271 and MCL 712A.13.

160. So called “emergency hearings” are regularly and consistently used as a means to remove children absent exigent circumstances to avoid due process rights of parent and child; to place the parent and child in a highly charged emotional state; to manipulate and coerce compliance; and force a guilty plea to any charge in order to have the child returned. Parents are routinely promised; if they will just plead to allegations; their child will be returned. Under intense emotional distress parents are willing to do most anything to return their child including falsely pleading. Any failure to cooperate or comply with any step of the Court or DHS workers or defend against allegations is perceived as continued abuse, neglect and guilt of the accused.
161. Allegedly at 4:00 pm without Plaintiff parent or children present Defendant referee Linda Weiss “heard” but did not authorized any petition. Instead a rubber stamp of Chief Judge Thomas Ludington was used on the “order” and again initialed “L.W.” beside the rubber stamp. In the hearing that was without notice; ex parte; and without representation for Plaintiff parent; Defendant referee Weiss identified that this was a temporary “24-hour” hold to remove both children.

162. Additionally Defendant Hycki indicated to the Court that all reasonable efforts had been done to preserve and protect the family and to prevent the removal of the children and that no other efforts could be done except removal. He further recommended and Defendant referee Weiss adopted complete suspension of all Plaintiff parent’s contact with either minor child, which was done.

163. Plaintiff parent’s child, L.E.L., was not released on May 28, 2004 or May 29, 2004 or any day thereafter, but taken to Ms Harter’s home approximately 200 miles away.
164. At all times L.E.L. would have had the ability - if she were not detained and in “custody”- access to the family residence; and adult supervision through Plaintiff parent’s fiancée who was a father-figure and resided in the residence. L.E.L. at 17 ½ was clearly able, even unsupervised, to reside in the residence for a brief period of time or even overnight. Further all funds for care of both the residence and children were in joint bank accounts shared by Plaintiff parent and her fiancée. L.E.L. at all times had a toll free phone number and various email and other contacts for her mother; as well as knew how to contact various relatives in the city. Additionally L.E.L. knew various friends, as well as co-workers of Plaintiff and how to contact them. At no time was L.E.L. “abandoned” by her mother.
165. Prior to L.E.L.’s departure to the home of Mary Harter, she was taken to Plaintiff’s residence. Defendant Midland City Police Officer Robert Booth was also present for a “civil standby” along with other officers. There was no court order or warrant that allowed access to Plaintiff’s home by police officers or other parties.
166. Defendant Booth and other Defendant officers went beyond the authority of a “civil standby” in their actions at Plaintiff’s residence.

167. Plaintiff’s residence per testimony had been under constant police surveillance since at least 12:00 pm and had been verified there was no one at home.

168. No one was at the residence to authorize entry; and no trespassing was clearly posted on the house at eye level on the front door frame. Entry was needed to be either by key or force. Defendant Booth did not have any warrants to enter and search Plaintiff’s home or to allow other individuals to enter and remove property from the residence.
169. Additionally to L.E.L. and Defendant Booth and other Defendant officers being present; Ms Harter and Plaintiff’s ex-husband Robert Lake entered and removed property from the home. Later DHS worker Hycki on two known occasions also entered the home.
170. Many items, not the personal property of L.E.L., were removed from the home at this time and on at least one other occasion. At no time was a search warrant ever executed for the seizure of property; no inventory of items removed was left or receipt given.

171. Officer Booth proceeded to search the home and interrogate L.E.L. Officer Booth also called L.E.L. on May 29, 2004 to finish his police report. 

172. Officer Booth’s police report indicates no finding of abuse or neglect. 

173. There are no other notes or reports by any other officer at that time or the subsequent numerous home visits and invasions by officers, DHS workers and other individuals or interrogation regarding Plaintiff’s whereabouts of Plaintiff’s fiancée over the next many months which have been used in testimony or evidence.

174. Per court records no Amber Alert was issued as per law enforcement determination Plaintiff parent and E.J.L. did not meet the criteria of 1) kidnapping of the child; 2) imminent danger of the child. This determination was made repeatedly over the next several months.
175. An additional hearing again took place on June 3, 2004 without notice to Plaintiff or the presence of either minor child; totally without representation for Plaintiff that deprived her of the custody of both children. Again this order was alleged to have been signed by Judge Van Dam and initialed by “L.W.”. Serious question is drawn to the authenticity of the purported signature.
176. These acts and subsequent ones led to the seizure and detention of E.J.L. on August 10, 2005 in Portland, Oregon by a SWAT team of Portland City Police officers who had instructions from individuals in Midland County or Midland County DHS that E.J.L. was with Plaintiff Lynnae L. who was living with armed and dangerous individuals subversive to the government and the Plaintiff Lynnae L. was a mentally unstable individual on medication. 
177. These allegations were completely unfounded and untrue.

178. At such time minor child, E.J.L., and Plaintiff Lynnae L. were subjected to 14 police officers, an attack dog, pepper spray and excessive force by the police officers. E.J.L. (then 9 ½ years) was subjected to being pepper sprayed at close range two times in the face for refusing to let go of her mother. She also witnessed her mother who had offered no physical resistance and was not armed being physically assaulted and arrested. Plaintiff suffered beatings and excessive force in the Portland, Oregon jail. Plaintiff was released after three days without charges.
ALLEGATIONS OF LAW
179. Paragraphs 1 through 178 of the Complaint are incorporated herein by reference, the same as though set forth in full.
180. Each and every act of the Defendants alleged herein was committed under the color of state law.

181. The acts of Defendants have caused Plaintiff to be chilled and deterred and will continue to chill and deprive Plaintiff in the exercise of her fundamental constitutional rights.
182. Plaintiff has suffering irreparable injury from the threat and fear of enforcement of MCL 722.628(8) and the failure of state and court workers from following statutes, mandates and policy and procedure.
183. The acts of the Defendant DHS workers alleged herein were done pursuant to presumed official legislative, executive and/or administrative statues, mandates, policies directives or other acts, which caused in whole or in part the deprivation of Plaintiff’s rights.

184. The acts of Defendant DHS workers alleged herein were done pursuant to the routine policies and practices of DHS in removing children which caused in whole or in part the deprivation of the Plaintiff’s rights alleged herein.
185. The State of Michigan and Midland County DHS and County of Midland were indifferent to and failed to train Defendant workers in policies and procedures consistent with Plaintiff’s constitutionally protected rights which caused in whole or in part the deprivation of the Plaintiff’s rights alleged herein.

186. The protocol of the State of Michigan and/or local county DHS office for the Child Abuse Investigations including Protocol for Emergency Removal and Placement of Minors authorizing CPS agents to take children into custody was unconstitutionally applied.

187. The acts of the Defendant police officers alleged herein were done pursuant to presumed official legislative, executive and/or administrative ordinances/statutes, mandates, policies directives or other acts, which caused in whole or in part the deprivation of Plaintiff’s rights.

188. The acts of Defendant police officers alleged herein were done pursuant to the routine policy and custom of the City and Police Department in assisting Defendant CPS workers in removing children as requested by CPS which cased in whole or in part the deprivation of the Plaintiff’ rights alleged herein.

189. The City and Police Department were indifferent to and failed to train Defendant officers in policies and procedures consistent with Plaintiff’s constitutionally protected rights; which caused in whole or in part the deprivation of the Plaintiff’s rights alleged herein.

190. The protocol of the City of Midland and/or Midland City Police Department for the Child Abuse Investigations including Protocol for Emergency Removal and Placement of Minors authorizing CPS agents to take children into custody was unconstitutionally applied.

191. The acts of Defendants County of Midland and Linda Weiss alleged herein were done pursuant to presumed official legislative, executive and/or administrative statues, mandates, policies directives or other acts, which caused in whole or in part the deprivation of Plaintiff’s rights.

192. The acts of Defendants County of Midland and Linda Weiss alleged herein were done pursuant to the routine policy and custom of the Midland County Probate Courts policy in assisting Defendant CPS workers in removing children as requested by CPS which cased in whole or in part the deprivation of the Plaintiff’s rights alleged herein.

193. County of Midland, by and through the Midland County Probate Court, was indifferent to and failed to train Defendant Weiss in policies and procedures consistent with Plaintiff’s constitutionally protected rights which caused in whole or in part the deprivation of the Plaintiff’s rights alleged herein.

194. The protocol of the County of Midland and/or Midland County Probate Court for the Child Abuse Investigations including Protocol for Emergency Removal and Placement of Minors authorizing CPS agents to take children into custody and referees to issue orders of such was unconstitutionally applied.

195. The acts of all Defendants have violated Plaintiff’s fundamental constitutional rights guaranteed them under the First, Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution, and under Art. I, §11 of the Michigan Constitution.
196. The foregoing actions and/or inactions of Defendants Jennifer Granholm and Marianne Udow in their official capacities constitute a failure to meet the affirmative duty to protect from harm. 
197. The foregoing actions and/or inactions of Defendants Jennifer Granholm and Marianne Udow in their official capacities, constitutes a policy, pattern, practice and/or custom that is inconsistent with the exercise of reasonable professional judgement and amounts to deliberate indifference to the constitutionally protected rights and liberty and privacy interests of all named Plaintiff.

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION - 42 U.S.C. §1983
(Parental Rights - Parents Only)
198. Paragraphs 1 through 197 of the Complaint are incorporated herein by reference, the same as though set forth in full.
199. The statute MCL 722.628(8), both on its face and as applied, abridges the rights of Plaintiff to the care, custody, education of and association with their children, as guaranteed by the first, fourth and fourteenth amendments to the United States Constitution, and art. I, § 2, 11 and 17 of the Michigan Constitution.
SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION - 42 U.S.C. § 1983
(Free Exercise of Religion / Free Exercise of Religion Hybrid)
200. Paragraphs 1 through 199 of the Complaint are incorporated herein by reference, the same as though set forth in full.
201. The statute, both on its face and as applied, abridges the right of free speech as guaranteed by the first and fourteenth amendments to the United States Constitution, as well as by art. I, § 11 of the Michigan Constitution.
202. The statute, both on its face and as applied, abridges the rights of Plaintiff to the free exercise of religion, free speech, and assembly as guaranteed by the first and fourteenth amendments to the United States Constitution, as well as by Art. I, §§ 3, 4, 18 and 22 of the Michigan Constitution.
203. WHEREFORE, Plaintiff pray for the relief set forth below.
THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION - 42 U.S.C. § 1983
(Due Process)
204. Paragraphs 1 through 203 of the Complaint are incorporated herein by reference, the same as though set forth in full.
205. Sec. § 722.628(8). MI Stats., both facially and as applied by Defendants, violates Plaintiff’ rights and the rights of the minor children to procedural due process as guaranteed under the fourteenth amendment to the United States Constitution, as well as by Art. I, Sec. 1 and 22 of the Michigan Constitution.
206. As applied by Defendants, the Statutes and Protocols deprived the Plaintiff and minor children of their liberties without due process of law in violation of the protection afforded under the Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution.
207. Plaintiff suffered such deprivation in respect to the removal of L.E.L. and later E.J.L.
208. WHEREFORE, Plaintiff pray for the relief set forth below.
FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION - 42 U.S.C. § 1983
(Unreasonable Seizure)
209. Paragraphs 1 through 208 of the Complaint are incorporated herein by reference, the same as though set forth in full.
210. Defendants abridged the right of L.R.L., and minor children L.E.L and E.J.L. to be free from unreasonable search and seizure absent exigent circumstances, in violation of the fourth and fourteenth amendments to the United States Constitution, as well as Art. I, Sec. 11 and 22 of the Michigan Constitution.
211. WHEREFORE, Plaintiff pray for the relief set forth below. 

FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION - Supplemental Jurisdiction

(Invasion of Privacy)

212. Paragraphs 1 through 211 of the Complaint are incorporated herein by reference, the same as though set forth in full.
213. Defendants invaded the privacy of Plaintiff L.R.L, and minor children L.E.L. and E.J.L. as recognized under MI. Stat. Ann. § 895.50.
214. WHEREFORE, Plaintiff pray for the relief set forth below. 

 SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION - Supplemental Jurisdiction

(Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress)
215. Paragraphs 1 through 214 of the Complaint are incorporated herein by reference, the same as though set forth in full.
216. Defendant Hycki’s conduct was extreme and outrageous, willfully and intentionally causing emotional distress, and did in fact cause extreme and disabling emotional distress and bodily harm. 
217. Defendants Midland County DHS worker/supervisors conduct was extreme and outrageous; willfully and intentionally causing emotional distress, and did in fact cause extreme and disabling emotional distress and bodily harm.
218. Defendants Midland City Police Officers actions were extreme and outrageous, willfully and intentionally causing emotional distress and did in fact cause extreme and disabling emotional distress and bodily harm.

219. WHEREFORE, Plaintiff pray for the relief set forth below.
SEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION - Supplemental Jurisdiction

(Familal Integrity)
220. Paragraphs 1 through 219 of the Complaint are incorporated herein by reference, the same as though set forth in full.
221. Defendants by their acts violated Plaintiff Lynnae L. rights to the care, custody, education of, and association with her children and deprived the children of their right to receive such care, custody, education and association.

222. WHEREFORE, Plaintiff pray for the relief set forth below.
EIGHTH CAUSE OF ACTION - Supplemental Jurisdiction

(Negligence)
223. Paragraphs 1 through 222 of the Complaint are incorporated herein by reference, the same as though set forth in full.
224. As professional social workers Defendants Midland County DHS workers/supervisors had a duty of care towards Plaintiff Lynnae L .and her children.
225. As professional police officers Defendants Midland City Police Department and its officers had a duty of care towards Plaintiff Lynnae L. and her children.

226. As an officer of the Court Defendant Weiss had a duty of care towards Plaintiff Lynnae L .and her children.

227. In violating their duty of care, Defendants were not acting with in the scope of their authority or with the reasonable belief that they were so acting, and acted with gross negligence and reckless disregard to the damages and deprivations of rights suffered.

228. WHEREFORE, Plaintiff pray for the relief set forth below.
UPON THE FOREGOING CAUSES OF ACTION, PLAINTIFF PRAYS THE COURT FOR THE FOLLOWING RELIEF:

A. Assert jurisdiction over this action;

B. Award Plaintiff compensatory damages against Defendants in their individual capacities;
C. Award Plaintiff punitive damages against Defendants in their individual capacities;
D. Declare the Statutes and Protocols unconstitutional as applied by Defendants as complained of herein;
E. Declare that the first two sentences of § 722.628(8)., MI. Stats., are unconstitutional on its face and as applied herein;
F. Enter a preliminary and permanent injunction against Defendants, their agents, employees and officers from enforcing these two sentences of the statute.

G. Award all Plaintiff nominal damages for violation of their constitutional rights.

H. Award Plaintiff her costs of litigation, including reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses under 42 U.S.C. § 1988 and as otherwise provided by law or equity.

I. Grant such other and further relief as the Court deems proper.
PLAINTIFF DEMANDS TRIAL OF THIS ACTION BY JURY

Respectfully submitted this13, day of June, 2007.







____________________________________________






Lynnae Lake

230 E Grant St

Sheridan, MI 48884

517-285-6211

Subscribed and sworn before me on this 13th day of June 2007 by Lynnae Lake

_________________________________________

Cheeri D. McDonald

Notary public acting in the County of Montcalm

My Commission expires on 3/20/3008.
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